Time Variation in the Tail Behaviour of Bund Futures Returns

Thomas Werner Christian Upper

Discussion paper 25/02 Economic Research Centre of the Deutsche Bundesbank

October 2002

The discussion papers published in this series represent the authors' personal opinions and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Deutsche Bundesbank.

Deutsche Bundesbank, Wilhelm-Epstein-Strasse 14, 60431 Frankfurt am Main, Postfach 10 06 02, 60006 Frankfurt am Main

Tel +49 69 95 66-1 Telex within Germany 4 1 227, telex from abroad 4 14 431, fax +49 69 5 60 10 71

Please address all orders in writing to: Deutsche Bundesbank, Press and Public Relations Division, at the above address or via fax No. +49 69 95 66-30 77

Reproduction permitted only if source is stated.

ISBN 3-935821-34-4

Abstract

The literature on the tail behaviour of asset prices focuses mainly on the foreign exchange and stock markets, with only a few papers dealing with bonds or bond futures. The present paper addresses this omission. We focus on three questions: (i) Are heavy tails a relevant feature of the distribution of BUND futures returns? (ii) Is the tail behaviour constant over time? (iii) If it is not, can we use the tail index as an indicator for financial market risk and does it add value in addition to classical indicators? The answers to these questions are (i) yes, (ii) no, and (iii) yes. We find significant heaviness of the tails of the Bund future returns. The tail index is on average around 3, implying the nonexistence of the forth moments. With the aid of a recently developed test for changes in the tail behaviour we identify several breaks in the degree of heaviness of the return tails. Interestingly, the tails of the return distribution do not move in parallel to realised volatility. This suggests that the tails of futures returns contain information for risk management that complements those gained from more standard statistical measures.

Zusammenfassung

Die Literatur über Extreme der Renditeverteilung hat sich bisher überwiegend mit Wechselkursen und Aktienkursen befasst. Die Kurse von Rentenwerten oder Terminkontrakten auf Rentenwerte haben hingegen bisher kaum Beachtung erfahren. Das vorliegende Arbeitspapier versucht diese Lücke zu schließen. Unser Augenmerk gilt dabei insbesondere drei Fragen: (i) Haben die Renditeverteilungen von Terminkontrakten auf Bundeswertpapiere "fat tails"? (ii) Ist die Wahrscheinlichkeit extremer Kursbewegungen im Zeitablauf konstant? (iii) Kann ein Tail-Index Informationen über den Grad von Marktunsicherheit liefern, die klassische Indikatoren wie die Volatilität nicht liefern können? Die Antworten zu diesen drei Fragen sind (i) ja, (ii) nein und (iii) ja. Wir finden ein signifikantes "fat tails" Phänomen in der Renditeverteilung von BUND Future Kontrakten. Ein Tail-Index von circa 3 impliziert, dass das vierte und alle höheren Momente der Verteilung nicht existieren. Mit Hilfe kürzlich entwickelter Tests finden wir Brüche der Tail-Stärke der Renditeverteilungen. Interessanterweise bewegt sich der Tail-Index nicht immer in die gleiche Richtung wie die Volatilität. Dies lässt vermuten, dass die Betrachtung der Tails dem Risikomanagement Informationen liefert, die mit herkömmlichen Verfahren nicht gewonnen werden können.

Contents

Introduction					
What	are heavy tails?	3			
Estimating and testing the tail index					
3.1	The Hill estimator	9			
3.2	Testing for structural breaks in the tail behaviour	12			
Data		12			
Empirical results					
5.1	Tail estimates	13			
5.2 Structural break in the tail behaviour during 1998 and					
	2001	16			
5.3	The tail index as a risk indicator	17			
5.4	Implications of the tail behaviour on Value-at-Risk	21			
Conclu	nsion	23			
	Introd What Estima 3.1 3.2 Data Empir 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Conclu	Introduction			

List of Figures

1	Different classes of heavy-tailed distributions	5
2	Change test for 1998	17
3	Change test for 2001	18
4	Tail index and realized volatility	19

List of Tables

1	The tail index of Bund futures returns	14
2	Correlation between tail index and realized volatility $\ . \ . \ .$	20
3	Value-at-Risk for the years 1997-2001	22

Time Variation in the Tail Behaviour of Bund Futures Returns

1 Introduction

It has been well known at least since the contribution of Mandelbrot (1963) that the distribution of asset returns is not well approximated by the Gaussian normal. Above all, the return distribution seems to have fatter tails than the normal distribution. The literature on the tail behaviour of returns has grown rapidly over recent years for a number of reasons. First of all, long series of asset prices and higher frequencies have become available. Together with the concurrent increase in computing power, this permitted the use of data intensive methods that previously had been difficult if not impossible to implement. Secondly, several new methods based on extreme value theory have been developed. An important example used in this paper is the bootstrap Hill estimator. Finally, the turbulences in the international financial markets in the summer and autumn of 1998 have questioned many of the assumptions of quantitative trading and risk management models, in particular the use of normal distributions.

The literature on the tail behaviour of asset prices has focussed mainly on the foreign exchange (for example Müller, Dacorogna, and Pictet (1998)), and stock markets (for example Lux (2001) for the spot and Cotter (2001) for the futures market). Only few papers deal with bonds or bond futures. Perhaps this is because bond returns are less volatile than stock or forex returns and are therefore believed to pose less risk than other assets. We believe that this argument is wrong and that the omission is not justified. What matters is not the volatility of an asset price per se but the volatility of a position in that asset relative to capital. Even the safest asset becomes risky if leverage is sufficiently high.

Our paper addresses this omission. Rather than working with data on the bond market directly, we estimate the tail behaviour of the BUND future. The BUND future contract traded on Eurex has become the main instrument for hedging long term interest rate risk in the Euro area. Trading is much heavier in the futures than in the spot market, and transactions data is available for a longer time span. Furthermore, since futures are traded electronically on a centralized exchange, the data is also of higher quality than that on the underlying bonds, where trading is more fragmented. Nevertheless, we show in a companion paper (Upper and Werner (2002)) that prices in the futures and spot market move together very closely, so our main findings should apply to the bond market as well.

We focus on three questions: (i) Are heavy tails a relevant feature of the distribution of BUND futures returns? (ii) Is the tail behaviour constant over time? (iii) If it is not, then can we use the tail index as an indicator for financial market risk and does it add value in addition to classical indicators? The answers to questions (i) and (ii) have important implications for the design of trading and risk management models. If the return distribution has fat tails, then the assumption of normality in many of such models would lead one to seriously underestimate the likelihood of sharp falls and gains. For example, the Value at Risk (VaR) measure often used in risk management corresponds to the maximum loss that can occur with a given probability. In mathematical terms, it refers to a quantile, which depends crucially on the shape of the distribution. Another aspect is the liquidation risk of an

asset. In a recent paper Duffie and Ziegler (2001) analyse the riskiness of different liquidation strategies and show that the riskiness of different liquidation strategies depends significantly on the fatness of the tails. But it is not only the fatness of tails alone that is important, also the variation of the tail behaviour over time is of interest. If the fatness of a tail is changing over time it is necessary to recognize this for risk evaluation and modelling.

We find that the distribution of high-frequency returns of the BUND future is indeed characterized by heavy tails. At five-minute intervals, the tail index estimated over our complete sample is around three. This implies that the distribution has infinite kurtosis but finite variance. The tail index increases as one reduces the frequency, although the tails remain significantly heavy even for daily data.

The tail behaviour is not stable over time. What is interesting is that the tail index does not move in parallel with more standard measures for volatility such as the variance of returns. This suggests that the tail index does indeed provide information not contained in more commonly used volatility measures.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we present the theoretical foundations for the tail index estimation discussed in section 3. This is followed by sections presenting the data and the empirical results. A final section concludes.

2 What are heavy tails?

Until now we have used a loose definition of heavy tails. It is not easy to define heavy tails precisely. Even the name is not used uniformly. Sometimes heavy-tailed distributions are called fat-tailed, thick-tailed or long-tailed. In the following we use all of these terms as synonyms.

An often used definition of heavy-tailness is based on the 4th central moment. If X is a random variable and μ_X and σ_X are the mean and the standard deviation of X, then X is called heavy-tailed if

$$E\left[\frac{(X-\mu_X)^4}{\sigma_X}\right] > 3.$$

This property is called excess kurtosis because the 4th central moment (the kurtosis) of the normal distribution is 3. However, this definition can only be applied in a sensible way if the 4th moment of a random variable actually exists. If two variables have infinite 4th moments, then no discrimination between their distributions is possible on the basis of the kurtosis.

Unfortunately there is no general accepted definition of tail-heavyness under which a tail ranking is possible. We obtain such a ranking only for particular classes of distributions. In the following we briefly discuss five classes.¹

- E: nonexistence of exponential moments
- D: subexponential distributions
- C: regular variation with tail index $\alpha > 0$
- B: Pareto tails with $\alpha > 0$
- A: stable (non-normal) distributions

These classes of distributions are nested as demonstrated in figure 1. The broadest class E encompasses all distributions with

$$E\left(e^X\right) = \infty.$$

¹This classification is borrowed from Bamberg and Dorfleitner (2001).



Figure 1: Different classes of heavy-tailed distributions

It is important to note that the normal distribution is not contained in this class as its tail probability $P(X > x) = \overline{F}(x) = 1 - F(x)$ declines faster than exponentially.² In this sense all distributions of class E are heavy-tailed with respect to the normal distribution.

Since the normal distribution has comparatively thin tails, stronger assumptions are possible for heavy tails. The class D contains the subexponential distributions.³ A distribution is subexponential if

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{P(X_1 + \dots + X_n) > x)}{P(\max(X_1, \dots, X_n) > x))} = 1.$$
 (1)

This condition has a nice interpretation: the sum of n iid subexponential random variables is likely to be large if and only if their maximum is likely

 $^{{}^{2}}F(x)$ is the cumulative distribution function of X with $F(x) = P(X \le x)$.

 $^{^{3}}$ A short survey about subexponential distributions is given by Goldie and Klüppelberg (1998).

to be large. It is possible to show that equation 1 implies

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{\overline{F}(x)}{e^{-\epsilon x}} \to \infty \qquad \forall \epsilon > 0.$$

As the name suggests, the tails of a subexponential distribution decrease more slowly than any exponential distribution.

In this paper we focus on the class C of distributions, which are characterized by regular variation in the tails. They form a subclass of the subexponential distributions⁴ and satisfy the condition⁵

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\overline{F}(tx)}{\overline{F}(t)} = x^{-\alpha}.$$
 (2)

This condition states that far out in the tail $(t \to \infty)$ the distribution behaves like a Pareto distribution. As a consequence, the tail probabilities P(X > x)decline according to a power function. The parameter α is called "tail index" and can be used as a measure of tail-heavyness. An important member of class C is the Student-t distribution.

In contrast, distributions in class B have exact Pareto tails. The cumulative distribution function of the Pareto distribution is

$$F(x) = 1 - u^{\alpha} x^{-\alpha} \qquad \text{where } x \ge u \text{ and } u > 0.$$
(3)

The tail probability $P(X > x) = 1 - F(x) = \overline{F}$ of a class B distribution is therefore $u^{\alpha}x^{-\alpha}$. The tail index α can be related to the moments of a distribution with Pareto tails. From⁶

$$E[X^k] = \alpha u^\alpha \int_u^\infty x^{k-\alpha-1} dx$$

 $^{^4\}mathrm{This}$ is shown, for example, by Goldie and Klüppelberg (1998) pp. 442-443.

 $^{^5\}mathrm{See}$ for example Embrechts, Klüppelberg, and Mikosch (1997) p. 335.

⁶The density of the Pareto law is $\alpha u^{\alpha} x^{-\alpha-1}$. See for example Dacorogna, Müller, Pictet, and de Vries (1998).

it follows that only the first k-moments with $k < \alpha$ are bounded. This property is important to understand the class A, the class of stable or, as they are also called, α -stable distributions. The distributions of this class have Pareto tails with $\alpha < 2$, which implies infinite variance and, as a consequence, very fat tails. In spite of this restriction, class A is of great importance because asymptotic theory similar to central limit laws is possible.⁷ Unfortunately, it is only possible to represent the stable distributions in a analytical way by the characteristic function (spectral representation). The density function can only be computed by numerical approximation.⁸ In this paper we use a semi-parametric approach based on the Hill estimator that encompasses α -stable distributions. However, if the variance of a distribution is known to be infinite, then a parametric approach based on α -stable distributions would be more appropriate.⁹

Let us consider class C in more detail. There is a nice connection between this class and classical extreme value theory. A main topic of extreme value theory is the modelling of the fluctuation of sample maxima. If X_1, X_2, \ldots is a sequence of iid random variables then the sample maximum M_n is defined as

$$M_1 = X_1, \qquad M_n = \max(X_1, X_2, \dots, X_n), \qquad n \ge 2.$$

One of the most famous theorems of extreme value theory is the Fisher-Tippett theorem.¹⁰ It states that if the properly normalised sample maximum converges to a non-degenerate distribution, then this distribution belongs to

⁷Note that the central limit theorems are not applicable to stable distributions because the variance is infinite.

⁸See McCulloch (1998).

⁹For a recent application of α -stable distributions to asset pricing models see Kim (2002)

¹⁰See for example Embrechts, Klüppelberg, and Mikosch (1997) pp. 121-125.

one of the following three distributions (density functions):

Fréchet:
$$\Phi_{\alpha}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x \le 0\\ \exp(-x^{-\alpha}), & x > 0, \end{cases}$$

Weibull: $\Psi_{\alpha}(x) = \begin{cases} \exp(-(-x^{-\alpha})), & x \le 0\\ 0, & x > 0, \end{cases}$
Gumbel: $\Lambda_{\alpha}(x) = \exp(-e^{-x}), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$

If the distribution of the sample maximum of a give distribution converges to one of the three, then it belongs to the maximum domain of attraction of $\Phi_{\alpha}(x)$, $\Psi_{\alpha}(x)$ or $\Lambda_{\alpha}(x)$. It is possible to characterize distributions that belong to the maximum domain of attraction of the Gumbel distribution as having thin or moderately heavy tails. Distributions that belongs to the domain of attraction of the Weilbull distribution have a fixed upper end point. Important for our discussion of heavy tails is the class of distributions that belongs to the domain of attraction of the Fréchet distributions. A distribution belongs to this class if and only if its tails are regularly varying.¹¹ This exactly corresponds to our class C. The heaviness of the tails depends negatively on the tail index α . We turn to its estimation in the next section.

¹¹This is proven for example in Embrechts, Klüppelberg, and Mikosch (1997) pp. 131-132.

3 Estimating and testing the tail index

3.1 The Hill estimator

The tail-index α of equation 2 can be estimated with the Hill estimator. If the distribution under consideration is exactly Pareto, then the Hill estimator can easily be constructed as a maximum likelihood estimation. The likelihood for the observation of k values x_1, \ldots, x_k is

$$L(x_1,\ldots,x_k;\alpha) = \prod_{i=1}^k \alpha u^{\alpha} x_i^{-\alpha-1}$$

and the log-likelihood function

$$\log L = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\log(\alpha) + \alpha \log(u) - (\alpha + 1) \log(x_i) \right).$$
(4)

Maximizing equation 4 with respect to α gives the Hill estimator

$$\frac{1}{\hat{\alpha}} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\log(x_i) - \log(u) \right).$$

The distributions of class C are not exactly Pareto but their tails behave like the tails of a Pareto distribution. Therefore the Hill estimator can be used for the outer parts of the distribution. Let x_i be the *i*th order statistic such that $x_i \ge x_{i-1}$ for all i = 2, ..., n. If we choose to include k observations from the right tail in our estimate of α , the Hill estimator becomes

$$\hat{\gamma}(k) = \frac{1}{\hat{\alpha}(k)} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \left(\log(x_{n-i+1}) - \log(x_{n-k}) \right).$$
(5)

Whereas the concept and the calculation of the Hill estimator are straightforward, the choice of k is not. On the one hand, the approximation of the tails by the Pareto distribution improves as one moves further out into the tails. On the other hand, this leads to a reduction in the number of data points available, which drives up the variance. No general solution for this trade-off exists and many competing methods are available. An often used heuristical method is the Hill plot.¹² The Hill estimates are plotted for all possible values of k and an optimal k is selected by eye-ball search for a range that is robust with respect to k. Unfortunately, the Hill plot is sometimes erratic and may thus not be very useful.

Regression based estimator

A recently developed alternative to the Hill plot by Huisman, Koedijk, Kool, and Palm (2001) is especially useful for small samples. Their regression-based approach is based on an approximation of the asymptotic expected value of the Hill estimator as a linear function of k

$$E(\gamma(k)) \approx \frac{1}{\alpha} - ck.$$
 (6)

Here c is a constant depending on parameters of the distribution and the sample size. If k becomes small, the bias goes down and the expectation goes to the true value $\gamma = \frac{1}{\alpha}$. The variance of the estimator increases with small k

$$var(\gamma(k)) \approx \frac{1}{k\alpha^2}$$
 (7)

The idea of Huisman, Koedijk, Kool, and Palm (2001) is to use equation 6 in a regression analysis and regress the $\gamma(k)$ values (computed with an ordinary Hill estimator) against k as follows:

$$\gamma(k) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 k + \epsilon(k), \qquad k = 1, \dots, \kappa.$$

The estimated $\hat{\beta}_0$ is an estimator of $\gamma = \frac{1}{\alpha}$. The authors propose to choose $\kappa = n/2$ where n is the sample size¹³. Furthermore they propose a weighted

¹²See for example Reiss and Thomas (2001) chapter 5.

 $^{^{13}\}text{The}$ authors show that the results are robust with respect to the choice of $\kappa.$

least squares method to improve the efficiency of the estimator by use of equation 7 and show that the resulting estimator has good small sample properties.

We are especially interested in α because it can be related directly to the existence of moments. One can show, by monte-carlo simulation, that the distribution of α is asymmetric. To construct confidence intervals for the point estimation of this parameter we use therefore a nonparametric percentile bootstrap proposed and tested in a similar context by Caers, Beirlant, and Vynckier (1998).

Bootstrap based estimator

Another method to determine the optimal value of k has been developed by Danielsson, de Haan, Peng, and de Vries (1998). It is based on an evaluation of the mean squared error of $\hat{\gamma}$ defined as

$$MSE(k) = E\left(\left(\hat{\gamma}(k) - \gamma\right)^2\right).$$
(8)

To evaluate this value the authors have proposed a bootstrap approach. The idea is to randomly draw with replacement from the original data set and to compute $\hat{\gamma}$ from this artificial sample. If this procedure is repeated for a large number of bootstrap samples the MSE can be calculated in principle. The optimal value of k is then found be minimizing equation 8. The problem is the value of γ in this equation. It is unknown and more problematic, and estimation is only possible if k is know in advance. Danielsson, de Haan, Peng, and de Vries (1998) have solved this problem by a method based on a combination of subsample bootstraps and the use of asymptotic theory. The details are summarized by Matthys and Beirlant (2000).¹⁴

¹⁴This method should not be confused with the bootstrapping of confidence intervals. We use it only to asses the robustness of the tail index estimations and do not provide

3.2 Testing for structural breaks in the tail behaviour

Although it is well known that the volatility of asset returns varies over time, not much is known about the stability of the tail behaviour. To deal with this question, Quintos, Fan, and Phillips (2001) have recently developed a test for structural change in tail behaviour. If a priori a change from thinner to thicker tails is suspected then a recursive version of the Hill estimator (equation 5) is proposed by the authors. The test is based on

$$Y_T(t) = \left(\frac{tm_t}{T}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\hat{\alpha}_t}{\hat{\alpha}_T} - 1\right).$$
(9)

The test is performed by the computation of equation 9 for a recursively increasing sample size t. In equation 9, $\hat{\alpha}_T$ is the Hill estimator for the whole sample size T and $\hat{\alpha}_t$ is the same estimator for the sample up to time t. m_t is equal to k in the Hill estimator. In addition, Quintos, Fan, and Phillips (2001) have proposed a modification to this test to deal with GARCH type dependency. It is known¹⁵ that the Hill estimator is a consistent estimator for a large class of dependent processes but the variance is effected by dependency. This problem is solved by the authors by a variance correction. In this paper we use the more general version allowing for GARCH type dependency.

4 Data

Our analysis is based on tick data for the Bund future obtained from Deutsche Börse AG. It covers all transactions from January 1997 to December 2001, a total of 12.7 million trades. For each transaction, we have a time stamp

confidence intervals because bootstrapping a bootstrap method is computational infeasible in our case.

 $^{^{15}\}mathrm{See}$ for example Resnick and Stărică (1996).

(up to the centisecond), volume and price as well as the expiry date of the contract. Our data does not, however, include quotes.¹⁶

Contracts expire in March, June, September and December of each year. Trading is concentrated on the nearby maturity and switches to the next contract within days just before expiry. Since contracts with different expiry dates tend to differ in price, we look only at the most actively traded maturity on each trading day. Since the changeover occurs very rapidly, we loose only about 5 % of the observations. We then link the individual contracts to a long series covering the whole sample period.

Trades occur at irregular intervals whereas the statistical methods used in this paper require equally spaced data. We create such a series by recording price of the last transaction in each time bracket. Intervals where no transactions take place are treated as missing data. This means that we do not fill in with the last available price, as is often done in the literature. Overnight returns are discarded for frequencies higher than a day. We also construct a series with daily data. In this case, we take the last trade on or before 5 p.m., when trading activity is at its peak.

5 Empirical results

5.1 Tail estimates

The results of the tail index estimations are summarized in table 1. Remember from section 2 that α declines as the tails of the distribution become

¹⁶Until the December 1998 contract, each Bund future refered to a notional German government bond with a face value of 250,000 DM and a coupon of 6 %. The Euro Bund future, which replaced the Bund future in the transition to EMU, has a contract value of 100,000 Euro.

Year	Method	5 mi	inute	1 h	our	1	day
		Left-tail	Right-tail	Left-tail	Right-tail	Left-tail	Right-tail
1997-2001	Regression	3.01	3.33	3.36	3.90	4.55	6.28
		[2.91, 3.09]	[3.20, 3.46]	$[3.06, \ 3.73]$	[3.52, 4.35]	[3.35, 6.98]	[4.61, 10.16]
	Bootstrap	3.16	3.44				
1997	Regression	2.46	2.88	2.91	3.40		
		[2.34, 2.61]	[2.72, 3.09]	[2.43, 3.58]	[2.74, 4.34]		
	Bootstrap	3.16	3.75				
1998	Regression	2.46	2.88	3.18	3.77		
		[2.33, 2.62]	[2.70, 3.09]	[2.66, 4.12]	[3.18, 5.02]		
	Bootstrap	2.66	2.77				
1999	Regression	3.75	4.41	3.51	3.91		
		[3.49, 4.04]	[4.06, 4.81]	[2.94, 4.55]	[3.23, 5.07]		
	Bootstrap	3.46	3.86				
2000	Regression	3.22	3.19	4.09	4.59		
		[2.98, 3.46]	[2.96, 3.45]	[3.29, 5.37]	[3.67, 6.15]		
	Bootstrap	2.72	3.12				
2001	Regression	2.78	2.91	3.38	4.37		
		[2.60, 2.97]	[2.74, 3.11]	[2.79, 4.57]	[3.62, 5.87]		
	Bootstrap	2.66	3.17				

Table 1: The tail index of Bund futures returns

thicker and that a tail index of less than 4 implies infinite forth moments and therefore an infinitely high kurtosis. Let us first discuss the results for the complete sample (1997-2001) shown at the top of table 1. For the fiveminute returns, both methods estimate α to be greater than 3 but smaller than 4. The values in square brackets are the upper and lower bounds of 95% bootstrap confidence intervals for the regression-based tail index.¹⁷ Highfrequency returns thus appear to have fat tails with infinite kurtosis, possibly infinite third moments but definitely finite variance. At lower frequencies,

¹⁷Computing confidence intervals for the bootstrap method would involve bootstrapping the bootstrap. In our case, it has turned out to be unfeasible

the tail index increases, and the tails become thinner.¹⁸ For daily returns, the estimates for α obtained by the regression-based method are above 4, suggesting a bounded fourth moment. But it is important to note that even in this case the tails remain heavier than those of the normal distribution, which has a very large, in theory infinite, tail index. Therefore our results suggest that the first of our questions can be answered in the affirmative: Yes, the returns on the Bund future do have thick tails. Moreover, the left tails, corresponding to negative returns, tend to be slightly thicker than the right tails irrespective of the frequency.

Let us now turn to the estimates for the different years of our sample. Unfortunately, only results for frequencies higher than a day are available as there are not sufficient data points at the daily level. We find that the tails seem to be particularly fat during 1998 and 2001, and less so in 1999 and 2000. This is not surprising, given that 1998 saw some of the worst turbulence in the international financial markets in living memory, and 2001 was marred by the September 11 shock. In contrast, 1999 and 2000 were rather tranquil years. The confidence intervals of the 5 minute losses (lefttail) are non-overlapping for 1998 to 2001. This finding is a first sign of time variation in the tail behaviour, which we shall explore in the following subsection.

 $^{^{18}}$ We use the bootstrap method only for the 5 minute returns because it is known from the literature that it requires a very large sample size (>5000), see Matthys and Beirlant (2000).

5.2 Structural break in the tail behaviour during 1998 and 2001

The estimation of the tail index α for fixed subperiods provides only roughand-ready evidence for time variation in the tail behaviour. To answer our second question in a more rigorous manner, we apply the test on structural change in the tail behaviour that has been described in section 3.2. In particular, we are interested whether events such as the turbulences in international financial markets in 1998 or the attacks on September 11, 2001 have affected the tail behaviour of the return distribution. In order to limit the computational burden, we do the estimations for each year separately. Here we present the results for the years 1998 and 2001, when the tails of the distribution seemed to have been particularly heavy.

The recursive test statistic of equation 9 for the year 1998 is plotted in figure 2. The critical value at the 1 % confidence level is 2.54. We find that the maximum of the test statistic is well above 20 and the null hypothesis of constant tail behaviour is therefore soundly rejected. The test statistic has two peaks: one at the end of July 1998 and another at the beginning of September 1998. These dates roughly match the Russian devaluation on August 17th and the LTCM crisis.¹⁹

The corresponding test statistic for the year 2001 is plotted in figure 3. Again the maximum is above twenty and the null hypothesis of stability is clearly rejected. But the shape of the plot is very different from that of the year 1998. During most of 2001, the test statistic is low but it rises sharply towards the end of the year, possibly in response to the September 11 attacks. If one performs a change test for the year up to the end of August only, the

¹⁹LTCM was recapitalized on September 23rd, but there had been massive disruptions in the markets during the previous weeks.



Figure 2: Change test for 1998

highest value of the test statistic is less than 1.8 and the null hypothesis cannot be rejected.²⁰

The time variation of the tails seems to be limited to high-frequencies, as we could not find any breaks in the tail behaviour for the one hour and one day returns.

5.3 The tail index as a risk indicator

Let us now focus on the third and final of the questions posed in the introduction: Can we use the tail index as an indicator for financial market risk and does it add value in addition to classical indicators? Although there is a

²⁰We have also found breaks during the other years of our sample, but the test statistics were much lower and not associated with any identifiable events. For the sake of brevity, they are not presented here.



Figure 3: Change test for 2001

wide variety of indicators for financial risk, we limit our analysis to realized volatility and use this measure to compare it with the tail index.

Realized volatility

Unusually strong price fluctuations are an important characteristic of financial risk. It is therefore natural to use volatility measures as indicators for financial turbulence. In contrast to tail indices from extreme value theory, they are computed using the complete support of the distribution of returns. We compute the realized volatility for each trading day by summing up the squared five-minute returns

$$\hat{\sigma}_t = \sum_i (\Delta log P_i)^2.$$
(10)



Figure 4: Tail index and realized volatility

Anderson, Bollerslev, Diebold, and Labys (2001) show that this approaches the price volatility of a continuous process as the intervals between the observations goes to zero.

Realized volatility versus tail index

We asses whether the tail index is a useful indicator for financial market uncertainty by means of a recursive estimation of the tail index over a rolling 20-day window using equally-spaced date with 5-minute intervals. On average, around 1,000 data points are included in the estimation of the tail index.²¹ To compare this index with a classical measure of financial market uncertainty, we have computed the average of the realized volatility for the last 20 days. The two indicators are plotted in figure 4. The dark line is $\hat{\gamma}$

²¹The precise number varies because of missing values.

Year	Correlation between tail index		
	and realized volatility		
1997	0.51		
1998	0.49		
1999	0.14		
2000	-0.06		
2001	-0.32		

which is the inverse of the tail index $\hat{\alpha}$. A high value of $\hat{\gamma}$ thus implies thicker tails. The dotted line is the rescaled realized volatility.

Table 2: Correlation between tail index and realized volatility

The tail index and realized volatility move in parallel during most of our sample, suggesting that the tail index added no additional information beyond that contained in our volatility measure. A closer inspection of the graph reveals that this view is not correct. For example, during 1999 realized volatility was relatively high but the tail index relative low. Consequently, this period was a good one for classical risk management. The volatility is captured by standard methods and the relative thin tails might be a justification for the normal approximation that is commonly used. The development during the following year was less benign for risk managers. Volatility declined but the tail index rose for more than half a year. Although the decline in volatility suggested lower risk, the actual probability of extreme events went up rather than down. As a consequence, the risk of extreme events could easily have been underestimated and caught market participants on the wrong foot. It is therefore fair to say that the tail index does indeed add information beyond that contained in realized volatility. The information contend of the tail index relativ to realised volatility can be analysed further

by the correlation between the two indexes. Table 2 shows the correlation coefficients for the years 1997-2001. In the years 1997-1999 the correlation between the tail index and the realized volatility is positive but in 2000 and 2001 the correlation is even negative. This means that the two indexes move on average in the opposite direction during this years. The tail index contribute strongly with information in addition to the volatility.

5.4 Implications of the tail behaviour on Value-at-Risk

To emphasize the importance of the variation of the tail behaviour through time, we compare value-at-risk measures based on the tail index and on the normal distribution, respectively. Value-at-Risk (VaR) is generally defined as the "possible maximum loss over a given holding period with a fixed confidence level". That is VaR at the $100(1 - \alpha)$ percent confidence level is defined as the lower 100α percentile of the return distribution.²² Our VaR measures are based on 5 minute returns and quoted in basis points.

The results are collected in table 3. The second column contains the volatility of the futures returns measured by the standard deviation times 1,000. Realised volatility increases between 1997 to 1999, and falls during the following two years. The VaR calculated under the assumption of normally distributed returns is given in column four. Clearly this VaR measure is driven by the volatility because the distribution is fixed.²³ The values imply a significant decline in the market risk in the years 2000 and 2001 in comparison to 1999. In column five the VaR based on the tail-index for the left-hand of

 $^{^{22}}$ It is very common to use α as the probability in a VaR measure and we do not like to change this habit. Please do not mix up this α with the tail-index.

²³The mean of the return distribution is virtually zero at high frequencies. Any changes in the distribution are therefore driven by the higher moments

Year	Volatility	Tail-Index	VaR 99%	VaR 99%	VaR 99%
		$(1/\alpha)$	(normal)	(tail-index)	(tail-index)
				(left)	(right)
1997	0.244	0.406	5.7	10.1	8.8
1998	0.263	0.406	6.1	11.2	9.7
1999	0.343	0.267	8.0	10.2	9.2
2000	0.293	0.311	6.9	9.7	9.8
2001	0.262	0.359	6.1	9.7	8.3

Table 3: Value-at-Risk for the years 1997-2001

the distribution is given.²⁴ It is a measure for the riskiness of a long trading position. Two points are important. Firstly the VaR based on the tail-index is always higher than the VaR based on normal distribution. This is a direct consequence of the fat tails. Secondly, and more important, the VaR based on the tail-index does not decline much in 2000 and 2001. The reason is the increase of the fatness of the tails in 2000 and 2001 in comparison to 1999. This partially compensates the decline in volatility. It is therefore dangerous to asses the market risk exclusively on the basis of volatility measures. In column six we have added the VaR based on the tail-index for the right-hand of the distribution. According to the tail indexes in 1 the right-hand of the distribution is less fat tailed than the left-hand. This is the reason for the lower associated VaR measures and implies a lower risk of a short position in the BUND future than a long position. Nevertheless our main argument

 $^{^{24}}$ How VaRs can be calculated based on tail-index and Hill estimation is described in Gourieroux and Jasiak (2001). The basic idea is to use an empirical quantile (in our case the 90% quantile) to compute an extreme quantile based on the tail index and the pareto like behaviour of the tails.

about the importance of time variation in the tail is not effected. A risk assessment based on the normal distribution implies a symmetric VaR and the risk of a short position in the BUND future should lower in 2000 than in 1999 because the variance is lower in 1999. Contrary to this argument the VaR values in table 3 show, because of the increase in the tail fatness, an even higher risk in 2000. Neglecting the time variation of the tail behaviour results in an absolut misleading assessment of the market risk.

6 Conclusion

In this paper we have focused on three questions. (i) Are the bond futures returns heavy-tailed? (ii) Is the tail behaviour constant during time? (iii) Does the tail index add further information with respect to classical indicators of financial market uncertainty?

We have found a significant heaviness of the tails of the Bund futures logreturns. The tail index is on average around 3, implying the nonexistence of the fourth moments. The tails of the 1-hour and 1-day returns are slightly thinner than the 5-minute return tails but remain thicker than those of the normal distribution.

With the aid of a recently developed test for changes in tail behaviour we have identified several breaks in the degree of heaviness of the log-return tails. Such breaks were particularly pronounced during 1998 and 2001, probably in relation with the Russia and LTCM crises in the former, and the September 11 attacks in the latter year.

Another finding is that the behaviour of the tails of a distribution is not necessarily captured by measures for volatility. For example, in 2000 volatility declined, suggesting a reduction in risks, whereas the probability of extreme price changes, as measured by the tail index, actually increased. This shows that the tail index contains important information for financial market risk assessment beyond that captured in standard volatility measures.

In some sense our paper is a first step in modelling time variation of tail behaviour. The results we have presented show the need for such an investigation. Unfortunately we can not forecast the tail behaviour because the used method is only able to extract information for the tail behaviour out of a given data set. There is no explicit modelling of the time variation. There is some very recent research about autoregressive conditonal kurtosis by Brooks, Burke, and Persand (2002), which seems promising. The idea is to model time variation in the fourth moment similar to the well knows GARCH type modelling. Nevertheless, our results show that the fourth moment may not exist. More research in this area is indicated for the future.

Bibliography

- Anderson, T., T. Bollerslev, F. X. Diebold, and P. Labys, 2001, "The Distribution of Realized Exchange Rate Volatility," *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 96, 42–55.
- Bamberg, G., and G. Dorfleitner, 2001, "Fat Tails and Traditional Capital Market Theory," mineo, University of Augsburg, Germany.
- Brooks, C., S. P. Burke, and G. Persand, 2002, "Autoregressive Conditonal Kurtosis," mimeo, ISMA Centre, University of Reading.
- Caers, J., J. Beirlant, and P. Vynckier, 1998, "Bootstrap confidence intervals for tail indices," *Computational Statistics and Data Analysis*, 26, 259–277.
- Cotter, J., 2001, "Margin exceedences for European stock index futures using extreme value theory," *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 25, 1475–1502.
- Dacorogna, M. M., U. A. Müller, O. V. Pictet, and C. G. de Vries, 1998, "Extremal Forex Returns in Extremely Large Data Sets," mimeo, Olsen & Associates.
- Danielsson, J., L. de Haan, L. Peng, and C. G. de Vries, 1998, "Using a Bootstrap method to Choose the Sample Fraction in Tail Index Estimation," mimeo, Erasmus University Rotterdam.
- Duffie, D., and A. Ziegler, 2001, "Liquidation Risk," mimeo, Graduate School of Business, Stanford University and Ecole des HEC, University of Lausanne.
- Embrechts, P., C. Klüppelberg, and T. Mikosch, 1997, Modelling Extremal Events, Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg/New-York.

- Goldie, C. M., and C. Klüppelberg, 1998, "Subexponential Distributions," in R. J. Adler, R. E. Feldman, and M. S. Taqqu (ed.), A Practical Guide to Heavy Tails, pp. 435–459, Basel/Boston/Berlin. Birkhäuser.
- Gourieroux, C., and J. Jasiak, 2001, *Financial Econometrics*, Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Huisman, R., K. G. Koedijk, C. J. M. Kool, and F. Palm, 2001, "Tail-Index Estimation in Small Samples," *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 19, 208–216.
- Kim, J.-R., 2002, "The stable long-run CAPM and cross-section of expected returns," Discussion paper 05/02, Economic Research Centre of the Deutsche Bundesbank.
- Lux, T., 2001, "The limiting extremal behaviour of speculative returns: an analysis of intra-daily data from the Frankfurt Stock Exchange," *Applied Financial Economics*, 11, 299–315.
- Mandelbrot, B. B., 1963, "The Variation of Certain Speculative Prices," Journal of Business, 36, 394–419.
- Matthys, G., and J. Beirlant, 2000, "Adaptive Threshold Selection in Tail Index Estimation," in P. Embrechts (ed.), *Extremes and Integrated Risk Management*, pp. 37–49, London. Risk Books.
- McCulloch, J. H., 1998, "Numerical Approximation of the Symmetric Stable Distribution and Density," in R. J. Adler, R. E. Feldman, and M. S. Taqqu (ed.), A Practical Guide to Heavy Tails, pp. 489–499, Basel/Boston/Berlin. Birkhäuser.

- Müller, U. A., M. M. Dacorogna, and O. V. Pictet, 1998, "Heavy Tails in High-Frequancy Financial Data," in R. J. Adler, R. E. Feldman, and M. S. Taqqu (ed.), A Practical Guide to Heavy Tails, pp. 489–499, Basel/Boston/Berlin. Birkhäuser.
- Quintos, C., Z. Fan, and P. C. B. Phillips, 2001, "Structural Change Tests in Tail Behaviour and the Asian Crisis," *Review of Economic Studies*, 68, 633–663.
- Reiss, R.-D., and M. Thomas, 2001, Statistical Analysis of Extreme Values, Birkhäuser, Basel/Boston/Berlin, 2nd edn.
- Resnick, S., and C. Stărică, 1996, "Tail Index Estimation for Dependent Data," mimeo, Cornell University, Ithaca.
- Upper, C., and T. Werner, 2002, "Information Flows in Times of Stress. The Case of Bund Futures and Bonds during the 1998 Turbulences," in BIS Paper No. 12, Market functioning and central bank policy.

The following papers have been published since 2001:

January	2001	Unemployment, Factor Substitution, and Capital Formation	Leo Kaas Leopold von Thadden
January	2001	Should the Individual Voting Records of Central Banks be Published?	Hans Gersbach Volker Hahn
January	2001	Voting Transparency and Conflicting Interests in Central Bank Councils	Hans Gersbach Volker Hahn
January	2001	Optimal Degrees of Transparency in Monetary Policymaking	Henrik Jensen
January	2001	Are Contemporary Central Banks Transparent about Economic Models and Objectives and What Difference Does it Make?	Alex Cukierman
February	2001	What can we learn about monetary policy transparency from financial market data?	Andrew Clare Roger Courtenay
March	2001	Budgetary Policy and Unemployment Dynamics	Leo Kaas Leopold von Thadden
March	2001	Investment Behaviour of German Equity Fund Managers – An Exploratory Analysis of Survey Data	Torsten Arnswald
April	2001	The information content of survey data on expected price developments for monetary policy	Christina Gerberding
May	2001	Exchange rate pass-through and real exchange rate in EU candidate countries	Zsolt Darvas

July	2001	Interbank lending and monetary policy Transmission: evidence for Germany	Michael Ehrmann Andreas Worms
September	2001	Precommitment, Transparency and Montetary Policy	Petra Geraats
September	2001	Ein disaggregierter Ansatz zur Berechnung konjunkturbereinigter Budgetsalden für Deutschland: Methoden und Ergebnisse *	Matthias Mohr
September	2001	Long-Run Links Among Money, Prices, and Output: World-Wide Evidence	Helmut Herwartz Hans-Eggert Reimers
November	2001	Currency Portfolios and Currency Exchange in a Search Economy	Ben Craig Christopher J. Waller
December	2001	The Financial System in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland after a Decade of Transition	Thomas Reininger Franz Schardax Martin Summer
December	2001	Monetary policy effects on bank loans in Germany: A panel-econometric analysis	Andreas Worms
December	2001	Financial systems and the role of banks in monetary policy transmission in the euro area	M. Ehrmann, L. Gambacorta J. Martinez-Pages P. Sevestre, A. Worms
December	2001	Monetary Transmission in Germany: New Perspectives on Financial Constraints and Investment Spending	Ulf von Kalckreuth
December	2001	Firm Investment and Monetary Trans- mission in the Euro Area	JB. Chatelain, A. Generale, I. Hernando, U. von Kalckreuth P. Vermeulen

* Available in German only.

January	2002	Rent indices for housing in West Germany 1985 to 1998	Johannes Hoffmann Claudia Kurz
January	2002	Short-Term Capital, Economic Transform- ation, and EU Accession	Claudia M. Buch Lusine Lusinyan
January	2002	Fiscal Foundation of Convergence to European Union in Pre-Accession Transition Countries	László Halpern Judit Neményi
January	2002	Testing for Competition Among German Banks	Hannah S. Hempell
January	2002	The stable long-run CAPM and the cross-section of expected returns	Jeong-Ryeol Kim
February	2002	Pitfalls in the European Enlargement Process – Financial Instability and Real Divergence	Helmut Wagner
February	2002	The Empirical Performance of Option Based Densities of Foreign Exchange	Ben R. Craig Joachim G. Keller
February	2002	Evaluating Density Forecasts with an Application to Stock Market Returns	Gabriela de Raaij Burkhard Raunig
February	2002	Estimating Bilateral Exposures in the German Interbank Market: Is there a Danger of Contagion?	Christian Upper Andreas Worms
February	2002	The long-term sustainability of public finance in Germany – an analysis based on generational accounting	Bernhard Manzke
March	2002	The pass-through from market interest rates to bank lending rates in Germany	Mark A. Weth

April	2002	Dependencies between European stock markets when price changes	
		are unusually large	Sebastian T. Schich
May	2002	Analysing Divisia Aggregates	
		for the Euro Area	Hans-Eggert Reimers
May	2002	Price rigidity, the mark-up and the	
		dynamics of the current account	Giovanni Lombardo
June	2002	An Examination of the Relationship	
		Between Firm Size, Growth, and	
		Liquidity in the Neuer Markt	Julie Ann Elston
June	2002	Monetary Transmission in the	
		New Economy: Accelerated Depreci-	
		ation, Transmission Channels and	Ulf von Kalckreuth
		the Speed of Adjustment	Jürgen Schröder
June	2002	Central Bank Intervention and	
		Exchange Rate Expectations –	
		Evidence from the Daily	
		DM/US-Dollar Exchange Rate	Stefan Reitz
June	2002	Monetary indicators and policy rules	
		in the P-star model	Karl-Heinz Tödter
July	2002	Real currency appreciation in acces-	
		sion countries: Balassa-Samuelson and	
		investment demand	Christoph Fischer
August	2002	The Eurosystem's Standing Facilities	
		in a General Equilibrium Model of the	
		European Interbank Market	Jens Tapking
August	2002	Imperfect Competition, Monetary Policy	
		and Welfare in a Currency Area	Giovanni Lombardo

August	2002	Monetary and fiscal policy rules in a model with capital accumulation and	
		potentially non-superneutral money	Leopold von Thadden
September	· 2002	Dynamic Q-investment functions for Germany using panel balance sheet data and a new algorithm for the capital stock at replacement values	Andreas Behr Egon Bellgardt
October 20	002	Tail Wags Dog? Time-Varying Informa- tion Shares in the Bund Market	Christian Upper Thomas Werner
October 20	002	Time Variation in the Tail Behaviour of Bund Futures Returns	Thomas Werner Christian Upper

Visiting researcher at the Deutsche Bundesbank

The Deutsche Bundesbank in Frankfurt is looking for a visiting researcher. Visitors should prepare a research project during their stay at the Bundesbank. Candidates must hold a Ph D and be engaged in the field of either macroeconomics and monetary economics, financial markets or international economics. Proposed research projects should be from these fields. The visiting term will be from 3 to 6 months. Salary is commensurate with experience.

Applicants are requested to send a CV, copies of recent papers, letters of reference and a proposal for a research project to:

Deutsche Bundesbank Personalabteilung Wilhelm-Epstein-Str. 14

D - 60431 Frankfurt GERMANY